NATIONS CCPR

. Distr.
International covenant GENERAL
on F:I_VI| arjd OCPR/ O SR 1551
pO|ItICa| I’IghtS 19 February 1997

ENGLI SH
Oiginal: FRENCH

HUVAN RI GHTS COW TTEE
Fifty-ei ghth session
SUMVARY RECORD OF THE 1551st MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Ceneva,
on Monday, 4 Novenber 1996, at 10 a.m

Chairman: M. BAN

CONTENTS

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 40 OF THE
COVENANT ( conti nued)

Fourth periodic report of Cernany

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submtted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenmorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They shoul d be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public neetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session.

GE. 96-18870 (E)



CCPR/ U SR 1551
page 2

In the absence of M. Aguilar Wbina, M. Ban, Vice-Chairnman,
took the Chair

The neeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES UNDER ARTI CLE 40 OF THE
COVENANT (agenda item4) ( continued)

Fourth periodic report of Germany (HRI/ CORE/ 1/ Add. 75, English only;
CCPR/ ¢/ 84/ Add. 5, English only; OCPR U 58/ Al GER, CCPR U 58/ L/ CGER 3)

1. At the invitation of the Chairman, M. Eberle, Ms. Voel skow Thi es,
M. Haberland, M. Wckerling, Ms. Fey, M. Schaefer and M. Hellbach
(CGernany) took places at the Committee table

2. The CHAI RVAN wel conmed the Gernman del egation and invited its head to
introduce his country's fourth periodic report (CCPR CJ84/Add.5). 1In
conformty with usual practice, the German del egati on woul d subsequently reply
directly to the questions asked in part | of the list of issues

(CCPR/ T/ 58/ LI GER/ 3) .

3. M. EBERLE (CGermany), introducing the fourth periodic report of Germany,
poi nted out that since the previous report (CCPR C/ 52/ Add.3) had been
presented, CGermany had experienced radi cal changes on account of the

uni fication, in Qctober 1990, of the former German Denocratic Republic and the
Federal Republic of Germany. Unification had been extrenely beneficial for
the German people, but it had also forced it to take up a nunber of new

chal l enges. Some of the assessnents made in 1990-1991 had proved to be too
optimstic or even erroneous. Were the protection of human rights was
concerned, the Germans living in what were known as the “new Lander” had
acquired the sane rights and freedons as those al ready enjoyed by their
conpatriots in the Federal Republic of Germany. The international commtnents
to which the fornmer Gernman Denocratic Republic had formally subscribed had
becone reality. On the other hand, there was no denying that the |ong years
under an authoritarian regi me had deeply marked the public and private life of
those Lander. The Federal Covernnent and society at large were striving to
overcone those difficulties. In sonme cases, extrenely delicate decisions were
required, and the authorities were far fromhaving satisfactorily resolved all
the problens. Jearly, in many respects unification was a far |onger process
than had been i nagi ned.

4. He then expressed his Government's deep appreciation for the activities
of the Human R ghts Commttee, and assured it of the full cooperation of his
country's authorities. He said that the Gernman CGovernnent had al ways def ended
the principle of the universality and indivisibility of human rights. The

credibility of States had becone nmore inportant than ever. |t depended above
all on the success achieved in protecting human rights and on the readi ness of
the authorities to accept international control. No country in the world was

exenpt fromhuman rights problens. For their part, the Gernman authorities
were aware of their weaknesses and shortcom ngs, but they were commtted
towards their own citizens and under the Constitution, properly to inplemnent
the international instrunents to which Germany was a party. He underscored
the inportance of the European Convention for the Protection of Human R ghts
and Fundanental Freedons and of its inplenenting nmachi nery, which inposed on



CCPR/ T SR 1551
page 3

Cermany comm tnents that went beyond those of the Covenant or of other major
conventions. |In addition, the ratification of the Qotional Protocol to the
Covenant, which had conme into force for Germany on 25 Novenber 1993, clearly
illustrated the German authorities' wllingness to accept the international
human rights nmonitoring machinery. He concluded by enphasi zi ng the inportance
the German CGovernnent attached to its obligati ons under the Covenant, and in
particular the obligation to prepare periodic reports, and its interest in
constructive criticismby bodies such as the Conmttee, which should make it
possible - within a framework of dial ogue and cooperation - further to inprove
human rights protection in Cernany.

5. Ms. VOELSKOMTHES (Gernany) said that she would |like to make a few
introductory remarks as a partial reply to the questions in part | of the |ist
of issues (CCPRIC58/L/GER3). First of all, she noted that six years had
passed since the third periodic report (CCPR 52/ Add. 3) had been consi dered
and that during the interimperiod State unification had been acconpli shed.
The process had set radical devel opnents in notion and given rise to manifold
probl ens, which were |argely responsible for the unfortunate delay in the
submi ssion of the fourth report (CCPR/ (J84/Add.5). Since the third periodic
report had been considered on 3 Cctober 1990 the Constitution of the Federal
Republ i c of Germany had becone applicable in the former German Denocratic
Republic and federal |aw securing respect for the fundanental rights set out
in the Covenant had been extended to the new Lander as well as to East Berlin.
In addition, the Federal Constitutional Court also exercised jurisdiction over
conpl aints | odged by people in the new Lander, including those concerning the
provi sions of the Unification Treaty. Under the treaty, the protection for
human rights afforded by the Covenant had been extended to the whol e of
Germany. Cenerally speaking, the field of application of all major acts had
been extended to the newterritory of the State. The federal authorities and
those of the Lander had worked together to create conditions to permt the
judicial and adm nistrative systemof the new Lander to operate in conformty
with the principle of the rule of law. The task had been arduous: there had
been a shortage of judges, |awyers, notaries, crimnal police officers, etc.,
to apply the new legislation. Strenuous efforts and goodwill on the part of
all those involved had been needed to translate the intentions behind the
Unification Treaty into reality. The basic conditions for the protection of
human rights and respect for the rule of |aw had becone part of everyday life
in the new Lander. The incorporation of the achievenents into donestic

| egi sl ation remai ned a challenge for the years ahead and t he Federal
Constitutional Court should continue to play a decisive role in performng
that task.

6. Since the third periodic report (CCPR 52/ Add.3) had been consi dered,
Germany had ratified the Optional Protocol to the Covenant and Protocols
Nos. 9, 10 and 11 to the European Convention for the Protection of Hunman

R ghts and Fundanental Freedons. Mreover, the European Court of Hunman R ghts
was an effective mechanismfor protecting fundanental rights, which perhaps
expl ai ned why the Optional Protocol to the Covenant had so far only rarely
been invoked. In practice, only one communication agai nst Gernmany had been
referred to the Human Rights Committee, and it had, noreover, been decl ared
i nadm ssible. Generally speaking, there were virtually no gaps in the
protection for human rights in Gernmany, either by the national or European
instruments. However, by acceding to the Qoptional Protocol, the Federal
Covernnent had wi shed to denonstrate its concern to pronote and strengthen



CCPR/ U SR 1551
page 4

uni versal respect for human rights. She added that the decisions taken by the
German courts were always fully in conformty with the provisions of the
Covenant .

7. The protection afforded by the current Constitution for fundanenta

i ndi vidual rights could hardly be inproved. However, the Constitution had
been amended where equality between men and wonen was concerned; in 1994 the
rel evant provisions had been suppl enented by a provision under which the State
woul d endeavour to ensure equal treatnent for nen and wornen and to elininate
exi sting di sadvant ages.

8. Inreply to the questions in part | (b) of the list of issues, she first
of all said that the Second Equal Treatnent Act had cone into force in 1994.
Structures for the systematic advancerment of women had been devel oped in the
public service as well as in sone areas of the private sector. However, those
nmeasures were mandatory only for the federal and Lander authorities, but not
for the private sector. There were commissioners for wonen, whose duties were
laid down in the Second Equal Treatnent Act, in all Federal mnistries and in
many other admnistrative authorities. The Lander Covernnents had set up
central equality offices, and at the local |evel the nunber of such offices
was increasing. In short, major efforts were being made to enforce the
principle of equal treatnent, especially in everyday working life. It was too
early to evaluate the effectiveness of the Second Equal Treatnent Act, but the
Federal Covernnent would subnit an initial report on the subject to Parlianent
covering the period 1996-1998.

9. Inreply to the questions in paragraph (e), she said that since 1992 the
federal and Lander authorities had been resolutely striving to conbat the
shaneful and often terrible outbreaks of xenophobic and racial hatred and

viol ence, drawing on the full arsenal of repressive - and al so preventive -
neasures at their disposal. Since 1992, the nunber of serious crines of that
kind (hom cides, arson attacks and bombi ngs) had gone down consi derably.
Wiereas in 1992 they had accounted for 28 per cent of all crines of violence,
in 1995 they had only accounted for 6.6 per cent. The total nunber of

of fences notivated by xenophobia had fallen by 29 per cent in conparison with
1994 (37 per cent in the case of xenophobic violence). Tribute should be paid
to the courts, which had effectively tried offences notivated by xenophobi a
and racismcommtted against foreigners in Germany. In 1994, sone

2,200 individual s had been brought before the courts for offences notivated by
right-wi ng extrem smor xenophobia, and in 1995, 1,500 had been convi cted.

The authorities' primary objective was to put an end to expressions of
anti-Semtismand xenophobia and to the denial of the Nazi crinmes and genoci de
commtted agai nst the European Jewi sh comrunity. |In addition, right-w ng
extrem st associ ati ons had been di ssolved. The production and di ssem nati on
of revisionist, right-wing extremst or neo-Nazi propaganda - both witten and

audi ovi sual - gave rise to crimnal prosecution and seizure of the materi al
The same applied to right-wing extrem st propaganda produced abroad but
dissemnated in Gerrmany. In that sphere, Germany was trying to achieve

har noni zation of the relevant |egal provisions in different countries, at

| east anong those applicable within the European Union. Cernmany was al so
conbating the growi ng di ssem nation of right-wi ng extren st propaganda over
the Internet. Over and above the harnoni zati on of European |egislation, the
CGerman authorities would |ike the conputer network service providers
voluntarily to refuse to dissemnate right-w ng extrem st propaganda



CCPR/ T SR 1551
page 5

Moreover, the federal and Lander authorities were conducting |arge-scale

publ i c- awar eness canpai gns particularly targeted at children and young peopl e.
She assured the Conmittee that the authorities would not relent in their
efforts.

10. It was appropriate to enphasi ze the neasures adopted to integrate
foreigners who had been living in Gernmany for a long time. For exanple,
between 1972 and 1995 nore than 89, 000 foreigners of Turkish origin had

obtai ned German nationality. In addition, the nunber of naturalizations was
increasing fromyear to year. In 1995 there had been 31,578 naturalized
citizens of Turkish origin in Germany. The requirenents for acquiring Gernan
national ity had been considerably relaxed in 1990 and 1993. It had becone
possi bl e for foreigners who had been lawfully residing in Gerrmany for a | ong
time to be naturalized w thout needing to prove they were deeply integrated,
for exanpl e by denonstrating satisfactory know edge of the Gernman | anguage

In addition, at the request of the German authorities, Turkish legislation had
al so been anended in 1995. As a result, it was no |onger necessary to perform
Turkish mlitary service before renouncing Turkish nationality. Furthernore,

| oss of Turkish nationality no | onger entailed certain drawbacks - such as
restrictions on the right to purchase real estate in Turkey. Generally
speaki ng, the German Covernnent hoped that foreigners who had been |lawful |y
living in Germany for a long time and who intended to settle there pernmanently
woul d conpl ete their integration by becom ng Gernman citizens.

11. Inreply to the questions in paragraph (i), she said that the
conpensation and rehabilitation neasures for the victins of politica
persecution by the Social Uity Party (SED) regime could only be synbolic. It
was inpossible to provide full reparation for the injustices suffered. None
the less, she referred to a nunber of |egislative nmeasures designed to right
the wongs coomitted. At the end of 1995 the specialized divisions of the
regi onal courts of the new Lander and of Berlin had handed down decisions in
nore than 130, 000 such cases. Since 1993, sone 670 nillion nmarks had been
pai d out as conpensation to forner political prisoners. In addition, people
whose health had been affected by their conditions of detention received a
pension. For 1993-1995 alone, the authorities had thus paid out 84 mllion
marks, in addition to proportional payments by the Lander. Some 65, 000
applications for rehabilitation, both adm nistrative and professional, were
currently being considered. As a thorough investigation had to be made into
each individual situation, it had so far only been possible to resolve a
[imted nunber of cases. She concluded by enphasizing the need fully to
achieve Germany's internal unity in a spirit of respect for human rights and
fundanent al freedorms.

12. M. WECKERLING (Germany), replying to the questions in paragraph (d),
said that the Unification Treaty provided that any enpl oyee of the public
service of the former Gernman Denobcrati c Republic who had been incor porated
into the civil service of the Federal Republic of CGermany after unification
could only be dismssed in exceptional circunstances, and solely on serious
grounds. That provision concerned above all civil servants guilty of
violations of the human rights enshrined in the Covenant or of other acts
contrary to the principles of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and
the enpl oyees of the Mnistry of State Security of the former German
Denocratic Republic - or of its Department for National Security - whose
former activities made it unreasonable not to dismss them However, there




CCPR/ T SR 1551
page 6

was no systematic exclusion fromthe civil service. On the contrary, each
case was considered individually, on the basis of the actual circunstances.
Moreover, the Unification Treaty nade provision for the dismssal of civi
servants on grounds of “personal unsuitability”. The concept of “personal
unsuitability” covered a variety of cases, in particular when the person
concerned failed to guarantee that he would at all tines respect the principle
of denocracy in conformty with the Basic Law, and the case of officials of
the former Gernman Denocratic Republic who had been incorporated into the
Federal Republic of Germany's civil service, in particular those who had been
politically active in the Social Unity Party (SED). The nore politically
active and closely identified with the regime a person had been, and the nore
he had supported it by accepting functions, the | ess the popul ati on woul d be
willing to accept himin an adm ni stration governed by the principle of the
rule of law. He pointed out that the provision of the Unification Treaty to
whi ch he had referred (dism ssal on grounds of personal unsuitability) had no
| onger applied since 1 January 1994.

13. Ceneral |y speaki ng, as each case was dealt with individually, the charge
that the authorities had dism ssed a whol e professional group was totally
unfounded. The criteria whereby a civil servant coul d be dism ssed for
personal unsuitability were determined by the aw, and were in conformty wth
the principles observed by a State subject to the rule of law Those
concerned coul d appeal against their disnmissal to the |abour courts and, in
the last resort, to the Federal Constitutional Court. A nunber of cases had
been referred to that body, which had handed down several decisions in favour
of the conplainants. 1In general, only a tiny percentage of teachers had been
di sm ssed on those grounds. Their total nunber was 4,200, and they
represented only 2 per cent of the 215,000 who had been integrated into the
Federal Republic of Germany's civil service

14. Regarding the conpatibility of those dismssals with articles 2 and 26
of the Covenant, he said that, in conformty with the Covenant, every citizen
shoul d have the right to have access to public service in his country, without
di stinction on grounds of race, colour, sex, |language, religion and politica
or ot her opinion, wthout unreasonable restriction and on general terns of
equality. Article 25 of the Covenant was designed to prevent privileged
groups from exercising a nonopoly over the civil service. Having said that,
States parties were nevertheless free to recruit suitable candidates for the
positions concerned. The teachers who had been di smssed in the new Lander
were not suitable to practise as teachers as there was no guarantee that they
woul d support a form of government based on the principles of freedom
denocracy and respect for human rights, and that they would teach in
conformty with those principles.

15. M. HABERLAND (Cermany), replying to the questions about nenbers of
mnority groups (part I (f) of the list of issues), said that Germany had
adopted a narrow definition of “mnority” for the purpose of granting specia
privileged status as a national mnority. The status was granted to the
Dani sh minority because of its historical links with Germany, as well as to
the Slovenian mnority. Qher mnority groups such as the Sinti and the Rom
did not enjoy such status, although they were entitled to all the rights
guaranteed to recogni zed national mnorities.




CCPR/ U SR 1551
page 7

16. Nor was such status granted to the 2 mllion-strong Turkish community in
CGermany. However, its menbers were entitled to all the rights guaranteed by
article 27 of the Covenant, and could develop their culture, profess and
practise their own religion and use their own | anguage. Measures had been
taken to foster cultural activities, and Turkish | essons were provided in
schools. The German authorities did not wi sh to open special schools for the
Turks as that woul d be contrary to their objective of integrating theminto
German society. In order to find work it was necessary to speak German and to
be able to follow vocational training, and efforts were being nade to increase
participation by young Turks in vocational training programres. The results
of the neasures had been excellent, as the rate of participation was currently
40 per cent. Legislation had been anended to facilitate naturalization, and
Turks who obtained German nationality simltaneously obtained the right to
vote. The purpose of those efforts was not to persuade the Turks to give up
their traditions, quite the contrary: for Germany, integration was desirable,
but assimlation was to be avoi ded.

17. M. WECKERLING (CGernany) replied to questions on ill-treatment and on
conpl aints against the police (part I (g) and (h) of the list of issues).
Protecti on agai nst physical or nental ill-treatnment was guaranteed by German

| egi sl ati on, and had been strengthened by accession to the European Conventi on
on Human R ghts and the Covenant. A systemof renedies was available to
persons who conplained of ill-treatnment, and all genuine or alleged violations
during custody or detention were investigated. Cernmany was al so a party to

t he European Convention for the Prevention of Torture and | nhuman or Degradi ng
Treat ment or Puni shrment, which had instituted a systemof periodic visits to
prisons by the Commttee for the Prevention of Torture. A delegation fromthe
Committee had visited Germany from8 to 20 Decenber 1991 and had i nspect ed
police detention centres and penal and psychiatric institutions. Inits
report, which had been published in 1992, that Conmittee had said that it had
found no cases of torture; a delegation had again visited Germany from14 to
26 April 1996.

18. Regar di ng conpl aints agai nst the police, he said that in recent years
conpl ai nts had i ndeed been | odged accusing the police of using excessive force
when arresting people, in particular foreigners, or of having brutalized
foreigners during custody. Amesty International had published a detailed
report on 20 of the 70 cases brought to its attention between January 1992 and
March 1995. A parlianentary comm ssion, together with the Mnisters of the
Interior and senators fromthe Lander, meeting at a special conference, had
exam ned the charges and replied to Amesty International. |In addition, in
one of the Lander, a parlianentary conmm ssion of inquiry had been set up. The
Federal Covernnent, which was not directly accused, had taken the allegations
extrenely seriously and ensured that investigations were duly carried out by
the prosecution service. No precise statistics on the total nunber of cases
of brutality reported were availabl e, but each tine an individual case had
been brought before the European Comm ttee against Torture a serious

i nvestigation had been initiated.

19. Ms. FEY (Gernany) added, with regard to the ill-treatnent of
individuals, that it was difficult to obtain overall figures as the
responsibility of the Federal State for the admnistration of places of
detention was exclusively legislative. Each Land was responsible for the
running of its prison admnistration. For that reason, it was inpossible to



CCPR/ T SR 1551
page 8

provide a figure reflecting the scale of the phenonenon for the country as a
whol e. Were the perpetrators of ill-treatnent were concerned, in 1991-1992,
13 of the 16 Lander had instituted no disciplinary or crimnal proceedi ngs
agai nst nenbers of the police or officials of the prison admnistration. In
the three other Lander, proceedi ngs had been instituted with the follow ng
results: in tw cases the accused had been acquitted, one case had not yet
been heard, in another the accused had been given a disciplinary punishnent (a
fine) and in the |ast case the accused had been di sm ssed by the prison

adm ni strati on because he had caused grievous bodily harm

20. Where penal institutions were concerned, there was no doubt that Gernany
had experienced a nunber of difficulties during the period covered by the
report, on account of overcrowding, mainly in nen's prisons. |In the new
Lander the buildings inherited fromthe regine of the former German Denocratic
Republic were clearly inadequate, and many of them had had to be closed. It
was planned to rebuild them The personnel had required retraining, which had
been conpleted. Fromthe angle of staff training, there was no difference
between the new and the forner Lénder.

21. M. WECKERLING (Germany) said that the |aw on the use of firearns and
conditions of custody was uniformy applied; a standing conference of
Mnisters of the Interior of all the Lander hel d special coordination
nmeetings. Wen the report on the second visit by the European Committee for
the Prevention of Torture was published, the conference would take note of any
shortcom ngs identified and endeavour to inplenment tangible and uniform
nmeasures to remedy them Regarding the conpensation provided to the victins
of the former Gernman Denocratic Republic regime convicted on politica
grounds, 140,000 applications had been nade to the special divisions of the
regional courts - the divisions responsible for conpensation - since they had
been established in 1992. They had already dealt w th 130,000 cases.

Approxi mately 670 mllion marks had been paid as conpensation, in addition to
the integrati on support services provided for forner political prisoners

22. The professional rehabilitation measures for the victins of the forner
Social Unity Party (SED) were inplemented by the authorities of the new Lander
and Berlin. They had so far received approxi mately 65,000 applications and
had only been able to deal with a small nunber of them for |ack of tine and
because of the need for a thorough investigation to establish the facts.
However, he pointed out that the two acts referred to in paragraph (i) of the
list of issues concerning conpensation for SED injustices were but a nodest
attenpt to mtigate past injustices. |In the political sphere, the German
CGovernnent pl anned to i nprove tangi bl e neasures of conpensati on

23. M. HABERLIAND (Germany) said he woul d address the right of asylum
(paras. (k) to (m of the list of issues). The right of asylumas provided
for by the 1949 Constituti on was extrenely generous because, at the tine, it
had been intended for all those Gerrmans who owed their survival only to the
protection they had found in other countries. The objective had been to grant
the benefit of asylumto “all victinms of political persecution” with no room
for the authorities to exercise their discretion. In the 1990s, the situation
had becone untenable, and in 1992 the nunber of asylum seekers had totalled
438,000, i.e. approximately 80 per cent of the total nunber of asylum seekers
in the States menbers of the European Union. At the sane time, the percentage
of favourabl e decisions by the adm nistration had been 4.4 per cent, rising to




CCPR/ T SR 1551
page 9

al nost 10 per cent if judicial decisions were included. It had thus been
necessary for all the groups in Parliament to reach a conprom se, which had
first of all entailed an anendment of the Constitution and then the adoption
of the Asylum Proceedi ngs Act, which had been promul gated in 1993. Exceptions
had been nade to article 16, (a) 2 of the Constitution, under which foreigners
fromthird countries classified as safe were no longer entitled to apply for
asylum The countries classified as “safe” included all the countries in the
European Union and all those States in which the inplenentation of the Geneva
Convention on the Status of Refugees and the European Convention on Human

Ri ghts was ensured. Foreigners concerned by that nmeasure could be sent on to
safe third countries. Article 16, (a) 3 enmpowered the legislator to draw up a
list of countries of origin in which it could be assunmed that there was no

per secuti on.

24. The new Asyl um Proceedi ngs Act authorized the detention of
asyl um seekers at airports, a procedure which was referred to in paragraph (k)
of the list of issues. |If a foreigner landed at an airport froma country of

origin classified as safe, and applied for asylumto the border

adm nistration, the entire procedure had to be conpl eted before he was al | owed
into Germany, provided that it was possible to acconmodate hi mon the airport
prem ses. The sane applied to asyl um seekers who were unabl e to produce any
identity docurments. During the entire procedure, the applicants were not
allowed to leave the transit area. |If their application was refused, they
could apply for tenporary legal protection within three days of having been
notified of the decision. An appeal was | odged and the adm nistrative court
had to take a decision within a fortni ght, which accounted for the “19 days”

duri ng which asyl umseekers could be detained at the airport. |If their
application was refused, applicants could be detained for more than 19 days as
they becane liable to expulsion. |In that case they coul d appeal to the

Federal Constitutional Court and had to remain at the airport; they could al so
be allowed into Germany if the Constitutional Court inforned the authorities
that there was a strong |ikelihood of the appeal being successful. Regarding
the general conditions of detention at the airport, he said that five mgjor

ai rports possessed reception centres on special prem ses. Social services
were provided by the two main religious communities, Catholic and Protestant;
there were 170 places at Frankfurt airport, although only 100 were currently
occupied. Leisure facilities were provided and asyl um seekers were able to
contact a |l awer chosen froma list given to them There were plans to set up
a |l egal advice service on airport prem ses.

25. Regarding the repatriation of war refugees from Bosnia, he said that
Cermany had given refuge to 300,000 Bosni an refugees, nore than any ot her
country in Wstern Europe. It had been clear fromthe outset that the

protection provi ded was tenporary, and that attenpts woul d be nade to ensure
their voluntary repatriation once the situation in the forner Yugoslavia
changed. Jdearly, no one would ever be sent back to a place that was not
safe. The Gernan CGovernnent maintained cl ose contact with the Governnent of
Bosni a and Herzegovina and with the Ofice of the United Nations H gh
Commi ssi oner for Refugees.

26. M. SCHAEFER (Gernany) acknow edged that obviously nowhere in the former
Yugosl avia coul d be described as truly “safe”. For that reason, the

Covernnent of Gernmany had, in close cooperation with the European Union, UNHCR
and the Governnment of Bosnia and Herzegovi na, selected froma |ist prepared by




CCPR/ T SR 1551
page 10

UNHCR three zones that could be considered safe: a district |ocated south of
Bi hac, the district of Sarajevo and a district near Tuzla. Voluntary
repatriati on programes woul d be possible in those three zones, provided that
reconstructi on measures were taken. Under no circunstances woul d anyone be
repatriated against their will. In some cases, the Lander were authorized to
return people to the former Yugoslavia, although they had not yet done so. On
the other hand, it was true that approxinately 10 people guilty of crimnal

of fences had been informed of decisions to return them They had three nonths
to appeal and the procedure would take fromfive to six nonths. They could

al so apply for asylum which also took a long tinme. Thus, in practice, no one
could be repatriated to the forner Yugosl avia before the sumrer of 1997

27. The CHAIRVAN invited the nenbers of the Commttee to nmake observations
and remarks in the light of the delegation's replies to the witten questions
asked in part | of the list of issues, and to put any other questions they

m ght have orally.

28. Ms. CHANET noted that the fourth periodic report of Cermany
(CCPR/ O 84/ Add. 5, English only) was being considered in a different context
fromthe previous report, as it was the first report submtted since the new
Lander had joined the Federation. Wile it was true that they had al ready
been covered by the Covenant, they had been subject to a conpletely different
econom c, political and social regime. She did not underestinmate the
considerable difficulties Gernany had had to overcone, and recogni zed that the
approach adopted to address the probl ens was prai seworthy; she regretted,
however, that the fourth periodic report focused, somewhat sinplistically, on
the difficulties attributable to the nerger. The approach overl ooked the
concerns whi ch had been expressed by the Conmttee when the previous periodic
report had been considered and to which it would have appreci ated replies,

even if they had highlighted the new features and additional difficulties
reveal ed by the absorption of the new Lander. She was sure that the dial ogue
with the del egation would enable the Coomittee to acquire a nore accurate
under standing of the situation and clearly to distinguish between the heritage
of the forner systemand what was attributable to the incorporation of the new
Lander.

29. Her first series of questions concerned non-discrimnation. Precise
replies had been provided in respect of racial discrimnation. However, she
detected discrimnatory elenents in the Basic Law. For exanpl e, although the
Law had been anended in 1994, it was surprising that article 3, which had

al ready given rise to observations by nenbers of the Conmittee when the

third periodic report had been considered, had not been anended to take into
account articles 2 and 26 of the Covenant: discrimnation on grounds of
social origin and wealth were still not anong the different types of
discrimnation. She also noted that the rights set out in articles 8, 9, 11
and 12 of the Basic Law applied exclusively to “all Gernans”, whereas ot her
rights, such as the right to life, were recognized “for all”. Certain rights
were restricted to Gernans: the right of assenbly, the right to take up

resi dence and the right to choose a profession. Lastly, article 18 of the
Basi ¢ Law nade it possible to deprive people of their fundanmental rights,
which was extrenely rare in a Constitution. She asked in what circunstances
such deprivation could occur, whether there had been any such cases recently
and whet her the courts had taken any deci sions thereon.



CCPR/ U SR 1551
page 11

30. Her |ast question on non-discrimnation concerned article 25 of the
Covenant, which had already given rise to observations by the Conmmittee when
the third periodic report had been considered: the question at issue was the
notion of disloyalty. Figures had been provided on the nunber of individuals
who had been debarred fromworking in the civil service on grounds of
disloyalty in the Lander of Baden-Wirttenberg and Lower Saxony (see
CCPR/ U 58/ A GER, p. 12). The system had been chal | enged by the European Court
of Human Rights and by the Federal Constitutional Court. However, it had
intensified as a result of the entry into the Federati on of new Lander whose
civil servants included nenbers of the fornmer Communi st Party of the German
Denocratic Republic. A total of 4,500 teachers had all egedly been di sm ssed;
she asked what proportion of judges had been forced fromoffice. Above all
she asked what criteria were used to deci de whet her soneone coul d or coul d not
be suspected of disloyalty and what authority took the decision, as cases were
deci ded i ndi vi dual | y.

31. Her second series of questions concerned allegations of ill-treatnent.
Approxi mately 15 cases of police brutality had been described in a report by
Ammesty International. That organization disputed the claimthat they were
i sol ated cases, on the basis of a 150-page report by the German Mnistry of
the Interior, entitled “The police and foreigners”, which concluded that the
i nstances of police violence, which was directed mainly agai nst foreigners,
could not be considered isolated. In addition, Germany's fourth periodic
report referred only cursorily to the conclusions of the European Committee
for the Prevention of Torture and | nhunman or Degradi ng Treatnent or

Puni shrrent, whi ch had recommrended a nunber of inprovenents (CCPR 84/ Add. 5,
para. 41). She asked the del egation to describe the inprovenents Gernany
intended to make to its legal systemto avoid such practices and the
proliferation in the nunber of people held in custody. Wen the

third periodic report had been considered, the Commttee had expressed its
concern at the length of preventive detention, which occasionally |asted nore
than a year (CCPR/ U/ 58/ A CGER).

32. M. ElL SHAFEI agreed that the Committee was in an unprecedented position
as it was considering the periodic report of a State party which, follow ng

its reunification, had extended the scope of its Basic Lawto its whole
territory, i.e. toits new Lander. The process itself held out the assurance
of | egal guarantees and better practices for the exercise of the fundanenta
rights set out in the Covenant, and shoul d therefore be approved.

33. The points of particular interest to himin part | of the list of issues
concerned first of all CGermany's interpretation of article 26 of the Covenant,
which differed fromthat nade by the Committee in its general comrent No. 18
(CCPR/ U/ 84/ Add. 5, para. 191). Under Germany's interpretation, article 26
authorized different treatnent on broader grounds than those contenpl ated by
the Commttee. He asked what the practical consequences of that
interpretation were and to what extent they led to | ess favourabl e treatment
than that provided for in the Covenant.

34. The report nmade several references (paras. 68, 78, 80 and 112 in
particular) to the fact that in Germany anyone who considered that his
fundanmental rights had been violated by a public authority could apply for
redress by lodging a conplaint of unconstitutionality with the Federa
Constitutional Court, after having exhausted all other |egal renedies. As the



CCPR/ J SR 1551
page 12

report al so indicated that the decisions handed down by the Constitutiona
Court were considered part of the |egislative process he asked whet her the
Court's opionion or decision constituted redress by the country's highest

| egal body to conpl ai hants, whether they constituted a | egal basis for
settling a probl emof unconstitutionality in domestic | aw or whether they
fulfilled both functions. The enphasis of the report was rather on the

| egislative nature of the Court's role.

35. Regardi ng the nonitoring and supervision of penal establishments, he
asked whether there were any specific measures to prevent torture and cruel

i nhuman or degradi ng treatnent and what was being done to ensure inpartial
nonitoring of penal institutions. He asked whether persons who had been
arrested or detained were infornmed of the guarantees to which detainees were
entitled under the prison regul ati ons and whether they were able to ensure
they were observed. Thirdly, he asked whether convicted prisoners were
separated from ot her detai nees and what the different categories of convicts
were; he al so requested informati on on i ncommuni cado detention, maxi mum
security sections and contacts between convicts and the outside world (their
famly, |lawer and non-governnental organizations). He inquired what

i nprovenents were planned as a result of the report subnitted by the European
Commttee for the Prevention of Torture and | nhuman or Degradi ng Treatnment or
Puni shnent (see fourth periodic report, para. 41).

36. The del egation had provi ded val uabl e informati on on the nethods used to
conbat xenophobi ¢ viol ence, at the federal level and in the Lander, whether
pol i ce measures or ordinary |legal neasures, on efforts to integrate foreigners
and on other neasures. In the Conmittee's view, the provisions designed to
conbat xenophobi a rai sed a nunber of issues under articles 20, 21, 22 and 19,
and even under article 14. First of all, the measures contenpl ated by the new
Cime Prevention Act of 1994 included nore frequent use of the summary
procedure in sinple cases, in order nore rapidly to try and to punish. He
asked under what circunstances the summary procedure applied and whether it
was possible to appeal against sentences handed down in such cases. Secondly,
he i nquired whet her cases involving freedom of expression and freedom of
assenbly or association had been referred to the courts as a result of the

i npl enentation of the new Oine Prevention Act. He asked what the outcone of
such procedures had been and how the courts weighed the interests and
protection of society against acts of violence whose perpetrators coul d al ways
i nvoke their constitutional rights.

37. Ms. EVATT said that Germany's fourth periodic report (CCPR U84/ Add.5
English only) was a good report which contained a wealth of detail. She
comrended the ratification by the State party of the first and second Qoti onal
Prot ocol s.

38. She was gratified by the adoption of the 1994 bill on equal treatnent
and neasures to conbat sexual harassnent at work (OCCPR/ ¢/ 84/ Add.5, para. 32).
However, she regretted that the probl emof reunification had not been
addressed in terns of its consequences for the wormen of the Léander in the
eastern part of Germany, as she woul d have appreciated fuller information on
enpl oynent and unenpl oynment anong them their conditions of enpl oynent, access
to child-care structures and to nedical abortion, etc. She also asked to what
extent the new neasures referred to in the report had hel ped to inprove the
situation of wonen in the new Lander.



CCPR/ T SR 1551
page 13

39. None the |l ess, the provisions of article 3, paragraph 2, of the Basic
Law were wel come as they made it nandatory for the State to adopt neasures to
ensure equal treatnent for nmen and wormen and to elimnate discrimnatory
practices (CCPR/ C/ 84/ Add.5, para. 32). Regarding the remarks on the status of
children and equality for children born out of wedl ock in paragraph 190 of the
fourth periodic report, she asked whether the plans to standardize |egislation
t hroughout Gernany had been put into effect.

40. She was disturbed by the apparent distinction made by the State party in
application of article 27 of the Covenant, between national and ot her
mnorities, i.e. immgrants. Information had been provi ded on the Turkish
mnority, which seened to be the |argest, but she woul d al so appreciate
further details on the Italian, Yugoslav and Gypsy mnorities, which were al so
entitled to the protection afforded by article 27. She was particularly
concerned about children's access to education, and especially to teaching in
their own | anguage and by the measures to enable the mnorities to devel op
their own culture, and asked whether the Gypsies had Gernman nationality.

41. The del egati on had described i mprovenents to the acquisition of
nationality by naturalization. She asked how nany years' residence were

requi red before people could apply for German nationality, whether a child
whose parents were lawfully resident in Germany was automatically entitled to
German citizenship, and, lastly, what differences there were between
foreigners and Germans for the exercise of the rights set out in the Covenant.

42. Regarding articles 12 and 13 of the Covenant and the situation of
refugees and asyl um seekers, the delegation had referred to recent changes in
Ger many, concerning, above all, Bosnian refugees. However, she understood
that those changes al so concerned other groups of refugees, for exanple those
fromViet Namand Mbzanbi que: she asked how they affected the situation of
such refugees.

43. The nenbers of the Commttee had received infornation about serious

i nci dents connected with the expul sion from Germany of foreigners, one of whom
had even died during the attenpt to expel him As proceedi ngs had been
instituted in connection with the incident, she asked what their results had
been and, nore especially, what specific measures had been taken to avert the
repetition of such incidents.

44, She al so asked whet her the recommendati ons made by the European
Committee for the Prevention of Torture and I nhuman or Degradi ng Treatment or
Puni shrent had been put into practice. She also inquired whether a person who
had just been arrested was informed not only of the charges agai nst hi mbut of
his rights, in a | anguage he under st ood.

45, Lord COMLLE raised an issue already referred to by Ms. Chanet and
M. El Shafei, concerning ill-treatment by and conpl ai nts agai nst the police
He noted with satisfaction that a unified systemof training, supervision and
discipline was being instituted as part of a joint effort by the Lander and
the Federal CGovernment. However, he asked what happened when a person was
ill-treated at the tine of his arrest or during the first hours of custody on
police prem ses, as the delegation had stated that conplaints in that
connection were extrenely rare.




CCPR/ U SR 1551
page 14

46. Since the Penal Code covered the offence of bodily harmby police
officers, it could be assuned that there was a procedure for | odging

conpl aints and for the exam nation of such conplaints, and that the procedure
al so stipul ated how conpl aints should be followed up in order for the victins
to obtain redress. He understood that the Public Prosecutor investigated such
conpl aints: he asked whether the Public Prosecutor was assisted by the
police, and if so, whether conplainants mght not be reluctant to give ful
details in their conplaint. He asked who conducted the interrogation if, in
the course of the investigation it was necessary to question a police officer
inplicated by the conplaint. |[If it was another menber of the police, there
was little likelihood of the procedure bei ng unfavourable to the officer
inplicated. Experinments had been conducted in a nunber of countries to
overcone those drawbacks: they involved associating a conpletely independent
person in the investigation, who was present during questioning and who coul d
thus ensure that the procedure was equitable. He asked whether Germany had
instituted such a system as it could account for the very small nunber of
conpl ai nts | odged agai nst the poli ce.

47. The German del egation had stated that no conpl ai nt concerni ng
ill-treatment by the police in Germany had been set before the European Court
of Human Rights in Strasbourg, in his view, that could be explained by the
fact that, before they could refer a case to the European Court, conplai hants
had to exhaust all domestic renedies. However, in CGernmany as in nmany European
countries, persons who believed that they had been the victins of
ill-treatnent, and who had failed to obtain redress through the appropriate
channel s, could always take | egal proceedings in the civil courts and, where
Germany was concerned, he was aware of cases in which the victins had been
conpensat ed, whi ch was perhaps why they had not needed to refer the case to
the European Court of Human Rights. However, he asked the Gernman del egation
for confirmation.

48. M. PRADO VALLEJO wel conmed the constructive dial ogue between the
Commttee and the representatives of the German Governnent, and by its
unfal tering cooperation with the Conmttee, even prior to Germany's
reunification. He also thanked the delegation for having provided further
clarifications to the detailed infornation already provided in the fourth
periodic report (CCPR/ C/84/Add.5, English only).

49. Regardi ng the application of article 12 of the Covenant, and nore

preci sely freedomof novenent for asylum seekers, he asked for details of the
additional conditions that could be inposed for the issue of the provisional
resi dence permts, referred to in paragraph 61 of the report: he asked what
the conditions were and how they were applied. Moreover, regarding the

allegations of ill-treatrment by the police - which had been referred to in
reports by Amesty International and by vari ous ot her non-governmenta
organi zations - he asked how the victins of such ill-treatment in the fornmer

CGerman Denocrati ¢ Republic had been conpensated

50. He noted the statenent in paragraph 244 of the report that in Gernany
the rights of ethnic and linguistic mnorities were protected only if they
lived in a particular region. He wondered what was the fate of nenbers of
those mnorities who did not live in the particular region, and whether they

m ght be deprived of their rights. Lastly, the Gerrman authorities had frankly
admtted that there was a wave of xenophobia in Gernany; that was not peculiar



CCPR/ T SR 1551
page 15

to Germany but existed, unfortunately, in many European and ot her countries.
He comrended the effective measures adopted by the German authorities to
conbat the phenonenon and to puni sh those responsi ble. However, he drew
attention to the statement in paragraph 204 of the report that the public
authorities could not be deened guilty of violations of human rights if the
activities of right-wing extremsts led to violence. He asked for
clarification of that point, since in his viewthere could be no circunstances
in which State authorities were not held responsible for their acts.

51. M. ANDO thanked the German del egation for its witten and oral replies
to the questions put by the nenbers of the Commttee. He requested
clarification of several points, all of which were connected with the changes
that had taken place as a result of the reunification of Germany. First of
all, he asked whether and how the international agreenents entered into by the
former German Denocratic Republic with other countries, especially with regard
to citizenship, naturalization, right of asylum narriage and adoption, and
where appropriate, cooperation between the police and justice departnments, had
been incorporated into the Federal Republic of Germany's current judicia
system He had al so taken note of the detailed information provided in
par agr aphs 15-25 of the report on the harnoni zation of the systemof judicia
adm ni strati on between the forner and the new Lander; he asked for infornation
on the training of judges, prosecutors and | awers in the new Lander and

whet her, if not enough of them had yet received the necessary training, they
were not overwhel ned by their task. In addition, the grounds on which judges
and civil servants could be disnissed, as set out in paragraph 170 of the
report, were susceptible of an extrenely broad interpretation, and he asked
for details of any cases in which they had | ed to abuses. Lastly, he
requested further details of how the Penal Rehabilitation Act, whose
provi si ons were described in paragraphs 49-53 of the report, was applied in
practi ce.

52. M. KRETZMER thanked the German del egation for the detailed replies it
had al ready given to nost of the questions. He wi shed to take up the question
rai sed by Lord Colville of the procedure used to follow up all eged
ill-treatment by menbers of the police. 1In addition to the crimnal

i nvestigations to which such allegations mght lead, it should al so be
possible to institute disciplinary proceedings for acts that constituted
dereliction of duty. However, the infornation provided, in particular by
Ammesty International and by ot her non-governnental organizations, drew
attention to serious shortcomngs in the disciplinary procedure, and in
particular to the lack of inpartiality and the inpossibility for conplai nants
or their lawers to obtain the files. For that reason, he requested further
information on the procedure followed in Gernany in investigating breaches of
di scipline by police officers.

53. One question which had al ready been asked when CGermany's previ ous
periodic reports had been considered concerned the distinction made in
practi ce between Germans and persons lawfully residing on German territory for
the exercise of the rights set out in the Basic Law, certain fundanenta
rights such as freedom of association, assenbly and novenent, etc., were
restricted to Germans alone. He asked for clarification of that point.

54. Ms. MEDONA QUROGA said that Germany deserved full credit fromthe
i nternational community for the seriousness with which the German authorities




CCPR/ T SR 1551
page 16

had nmade the efforts required to achieve integration follow ng reunification
and for their determination to discharge their obligations under the
international human rights instrunents. However, it was precisely the
nmeasures of integration that could give rise to some concern. She noted in
particul ar that some civil servants of the forner German Denocratic Republic,
for exanple in the teaching profession or in the admnistration of justice,
had been di sm ssed on the grounds that they | acked the necessary skills to
assune particular responsibilities. She asked what became of them how they
made a |ivelihood, howthey were integrated into soci ety and how the
authorities ensured that the positive features of society in the former Gernan
Denocrati c Republic enriched the new unified Gernan society.

55. Regardi ng equal ity between nmen and women, she wondered about the

| egi slative provisions referred to in paragraph 32 of the report, whose
purpose was to advance the interests of wonen in the federal adm nistration
in particular to enable themto reconcile their jobs with famly
responsibilities. There was nothing to suggest the existence of simlar
nmeasures to permt nmen to reconcile their jobs with their famly
responsibilities. Lastly, she asked what were the rights of under-age wonen,
for exanple with regard to narriage, and what was the situation of single

not hers who were mnors

56. M. LALLAH said that, while he was gratified by the entry into force for
Germany of the Optional Protocol, he regretted that a reservation had been
made regarding reference to the Protocol to ensure the inplenentati on of
article 26 of the Covenant. He saw no practical difficulty that m ght prevent
a State party fromfully inplenenting article 26, which covered all those
fields in which the State could decide to intervene in the |egislative,
executive or judicial areas in order to guarantee equal protection against
discrimnation for all. Mreover, he asked whether the Gernman authorities had
conme up agai nst any probl ens because of the reservations made to certain
articles of the Covenant by the fornmer Wst Germany and whi ch had not been
nmade by the former Gernman Denocratic Republic. Regarding article 27 of the
Covenant, he asked what practical distinction was nade between Germans on the
one hand and the national mnorities and other ethnic, religious or |inguistic
mnorities on the other and what the actual consequences of any such
distinction were. Lastly, he fully shared Ms. Medina Qiroga s concerns
about the situation of ex-civil servants of the forner German Denocratic
Republ i c who were henceforth considered unsuitable to work in the German civi
service. He understood that people mght have had divergent outlooks in the
past, but no society worthy of the name could deprive a person of his
fundanmental right to a decent life and to respect for his hunan dignity.

The neeting rose at 12.55 p. m




